KILEI

OCT 14 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

No. 318141

200

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BEVERLY VOLK, et al., Appellants,

ν.

JAMES B. DEMEERLEER, et al., Respondents.

APPELLANTS' APPEAL BRIEF

Michael J. Riccelli, WSBA #7492 Attorney for Appellant 400 South Jefferson St., #112 Spokane, WA 99204 (509) 323-1120

I. INTRODUCTION

This matter involves claims that negligence in the psychiatric care and treatment of a patient was a proximate cause of and/or substantial factor in: the murder of a patient's one-time female companion and one of her sons; the attempted murder of another of her sons; and the infliction of great emotional distress on another of her sons. The patient, soon thereafter, committed suicide. Hereinafter, these unfortunate occurrences will be, collectively, referred to as "the Incident."

It is claimed that Spokane Psychiatric Clinic, P.S. ("the Clinic") and Dr. Howard Ashby ("Dr. Ashby") of the Clinic failed, over a nine year period of treatment of its patient Jan DeMeerleer ("DeMeerleer") to: properly assess DeMeerleer's mental state; follow-up on his multiple expressed thoughts of suicide and homicide; and take appropriate clinical actions on those expressed thoughts, during the period of care and treatment.

On summary judgment the appellants' claims were dismissed from which the appeal arises.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error

No. 1

The trial court erred by entry of the Amended Order on

Defendants' Summary Judgment Motions dismissing appellants'/ plaintiffs' claims on June 21, 2013.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

No. 1

- 30

Whether, in Washington, a psychiatrist may be liable to a thirdparty for damages where: (a) competent medical testimony is presented to support a finding of proximate causation resulting from the breach of the standard of care; and (b) the psychiatrist knew or should have known that the patient was a foreseeable risk of harm to the third-party.

No. 2

Whether, in Washington, a psychiatrist may be liable to a thirdparty for damages where: (a) competent medical testimony is presented to support a finding that a breach of the standard of care was a substantial factor in causation of a loss of chance of survival or a better outcome; and (b) the psychiatrist knew or should have known that the patient was a foreseeable risk of harm to the third-party.

No. 3

Whether RCW 71.05.120 works to shield a psychiatrist from liability to a third-party, under the facts and circumstances of this case, where the psychiatrist is not acting on behalf of the State of Washington or a public agency as defined in the statute.

- 2 -

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Undisputed Factual Summary</u>

This appeal arises from and relates to claims of professional negligence in the psychiatric treatment of DeMeerleer by Dr. Ashby and the Clinic.

In September of 2001, DeMeerler, then a 30-year old married father of a young girl, began psychiatric treatment at the Clinic. At that time DeMeerleer related to Dr. Ashby that: he had previously been diagnosed with bipolar disorder ("BPD"); had made one or more legitimate attempts at suicide; and had been civilly committed at a mental institution, all prior to his relocation to Spokane, from the Mid-West. (CP 85-86).

During the course of treatment and therapy with Dr. Ashby and the Clinic, DeMeerleer's marriage failed and caused him distress and homicidal thoughts toward his ex-wife and her new male companion. (CP 87); DeMeerleer caused his family to alert Dr. Ashby that he had homicidal thoughts and had taken action on them by laying in wait with loaded firearms in order to attempt to take retribution on one or more individuals he suspected of damaging one of his vehicles (CP 87-88); and was also known to have extended periods of manic behavior, depression,

and mixed affect, especially when it concerned pre and post divorce relationships with his ex-spouse and then with Ms. Schiering. (CP 85-89). During psychiatric sessions with Dr. Ashby, it was DeMeerleer's practice to discuss his mental status, including thoughts of homicide and suicide. However, during the course of treatment, Dr. Ashby never once formally assessed DeMeerleer for risks of suicide or harm to others. (CP 87-91). DeMeerleer was treated exclusively by prescription medication and clinical counseling sessions. (CP 87-90). In the last clinical visit with Dr. Ashby in April of 2010, DeMeerleer appeared to be in obvious distress, and presented with suicidal thoughts. However, DeMeerleer was not scheduled by Dr. Ashby for follow-up assessment or treatment. (CP 89-90).

In the early morning hours of July 18, 2010, DeMeerleer, a psychiatric patient of Dr. Ashby and the Clinic for almost nine years, murdered Rebecca Leigh Schiering and her nine year old son, Phillip Lee Schiering, by gunshots to the head, and attempted to murder one of Rebecca Leigh Schiering's other sons, Brian Winkler. DeMeerler did not murder or attempt to murder Rebecca Leigh Schiering's other nine year old son, Jack Alan Schiering. (CP 27-32). Later that day, DeMeerleer was found by a Spokane County Sheriff's Department S.W.A.T team in the garage of his house, dead, by an apparent self-inflicted gunshot to his

head. This tragic sequence of events is hereinafter referred to collectively as "the Incident."

Various litigation was filed by the Personal Representative of the Estates of Decedents Rebecca Leigh Schiering and Phillip Lee Schiering and survivors Bryan Winkler and Jack L. Schiering which was consolidated into a single, amended complaint on May 22, 2012. (CP 27-32). Prior to that time, Dr. Ashby and the Clinic moved for summary judgment. (CP 57-59 and 60-62). The plaintiffs responded with competent expert psychiatric testimony, uncontested by opposing expert testimony, that negligence by errors and omissions in treatment of DeMeerleer by the Clinic and Dr. Ashby was a proximate cause of and/or substantial factor in the causation of the Incident. (CP 82-92). Plaintiffs argued that third parties could recover damages from a treating psychiatrist and clinic, for harm caused by a patient, where: the psychiatrist breached the standard of care in failing to properly assess and follow-up on treatment of a patient for suicidal and homicidal thoughts and actions; and knew or should have known that an the third party was forseeably at risk for harm from the patient. (CP 70-81). Defendant/Respondents argued that such causes of action are not recognized in Washington, under the common law, and even if so, RCW 71.05.120 would bar such a cause of action. (CP 249-59). On June 21, 2013, the trial court granted defendants/respondents summary

judgment motion and dismissed plaintiffs/appellants' claims by entry of judgment, giving rise to this appeal. (CP 274-77).

B. Undisputed Factual Detail

As of 2001, DeMeerleer had married, fathered a child, and was residing in Spokane County. DeMeerleer began treatment with the Clinic on September 13, 2001. (CP 85). DeMeerleer disclosed to Dr. Ashby that he had previously had suicidal ideas upon which he acted, in attempting suicide, the mitigation of which required extended in-patient psychiatric therapy and treatment. (CP 85-86). DeMeerleer also reported that he had recently played "Russian Roulette" with a loaded firearm, recently during the Summer of 2001. (CP 86). At the time DeMeerleer began treatment with the Clinic, it was also disclosed that he had previously had homicidal ideas. In a written submission believed to be provided to Dr. Ashby as part of the June 27, 2002 session, DeMeerleer assessed his manic mental state to include, but not be limited to the following characteristics:

- Despises lesser creatures; no remorse for my actions/thoughts on other living creatures.
- 2. Delusional and psychotic beliefs argued to the point of verbal abusive and fighting.

- 3. No need for socialization; in fact, prefers to psychotically depopulate the world (i.e. "do Your Part" [CYP] terrorist philosophies).
- 4. Wants to destroy; pounds on computer keyboard, slams phone receiver, swings fists.
- 5. Has no use for others; everyone else in world is useless.

. a

- Reckless driving; no fear of danger in any circumstance, even "near misses."
- 7. Acts out fantasies of sex with anyone available. (CP 86)

DeMeerleer's then-current spouse also assessed, in a written submission at that same time, that DeMeerleer's hypomanic and manic mental state was as follows:

- Makes mistakes on projects (i.e. breaking something) and quickly moves into dangerous rage; actually easily slips into depression after this type of trigger.
- Severe lack of sleep coupled with dreams of going on killing or shooting sprees.
- 3. Drives automobiles very fast (at least 20 to 30 MPH above speed limit) without a seat belt while showing no fear at all when in dangerous situations; applies even with a child in the car.

- 4. Expresses severe "road rage" at other slower drivers, even as a passenger (he's NOT driving).
- Has an "all or nothing" attitude; will actually verbally express
 "Live or Die!" (CP 86-87)

When DeMeerleer expressed suicidal and homicidal ideas on several occasions while being treated by Dr. Ashby, no thorough inquiry was made by Dr. Ashby as to the nature and extent of the ideas, such as: planning; access to weapons; prior attempts; acting out, etc; stress; access to victims; and so forth. (CP 87).

At the time DeMeerleer began clinical treatment with Dr. Ashby, and during treatment, issues of DeMeerleer's sexuality and sexual experimentation were identified by DeMeerleer. (CP 87). A review of the police records confirm that a significant issue in DeMeerleer's estrangement from Ms. Schiering was: his interest in pornography; his experimentation with homosexuality and/or bi-sexuality; and Ms. Schiering's disdain for these activities. (CP 87). The Clinic's clinical records and chart notes, however, reflect no inquiry into issues of DeMeerleer's sexuality, even though excessive sexual preoccupation is a well-known symptom of BPD. (CP 87).

During treatment by Dr. Ashby and the Clinic, after the failure of his marriage, DeMeerleer expressed homicidal ideas toward his former

- 8 -

spouse and her then-current boyfriend. (CP 87). Subsequently, DeMeerleer's family was greatly concerned about his access to firearms, and his acting upon homicidal ideas. (CP 87). DeMeerleer's mother's sent a letter to Dr. Ashby and the Clinic dated September 24, 2005. (CP 87). The following is an excerpt from that letter:

> We were all extremely concerned that Jan's reaction to vandalism to his "beater" pickup truck was dangerous and unrealistic. Jan placed two powerful guns (a .357 pistol and a shotgun, both with lots of ammunition) into his car and then drove himself to the area where this theft had been perpetrated in order to "wait" for the thieves to return. Jan's two fathers (biological and step) and I do have a huge issue with Jan hauling loaded guns around in case he finds the guys who ripped into his truck! Jan assured us that he no longer has visions of suicide but that he has now progressed into a homicidal mode. Believe me, Dr. Ashby, we are NOT comforted by this information! Jan's several guns were removed from his home (by his two fathers) and taken to Moscow. (CP 88)

DeMeerleer had been placed on various psychotropic drugs by Dr. Ashby which at times regulated his bi-polar state, and at other times did not. This was due either to efficacy, and/or DeMeerleer's known penchant for failing to take medications (non-compliance), especially in times of his manic and/or mixed mood states. Based on toxicology results, DeMeerleer was non-compliant with taking his medications at the time of the Incident. (CP 88). Dr. Ashby was aware of DeMeerleer's issues of non-compliance. (CP 88). During treatment by Dr. Ashby, it was known to him that, after his failed marriage, DeMeerleer struck up an apparent serious relationship with Ms. Schiering and her biological children with the intention of marrying Ms. Schiering and becoming a step-father to her biological children. (CP 85). However, DeMeerleer's coping ability was apparently tested severely by Ms. Schiering's autistic son, Jack, to the extent that DeMeerleer physically attacked Jack by striking the then 9 year old squarely in the mouth with his fist. This apparently caused Ms. Schiering to separate from DeMeerleer. (CP 88).

Dr. Ashby initially appeared to have diagnosed DeMeerleer with a mild form of BPD (cyclothymic personality disorder). (CP 85). Dr. Ashby also considered evaluating DeMeerleer's obsessive compulsive traits, but it is not apparent that this was done. An evaluation may have indicated a concurrent borderline personality disorder, which shares some symptomology with BPD, but is not considered as serious a mental illness as BPD. (CP 85). Generally, in the context of a BPD diagnosis, and throughout treatment by Dr. Ashby and the Clinic, DeMeerleer frequently appeared to have been mentally unstable. (CP 85). However, no systematic or focused inquiry into DeMeerleer's psychiatric symptoms was made, and no solid treatment plan with periodic follow-up was initiated by Dr. Ashby, other than adjustment of medications. (CP 85-86).

DeMeerleer was clinically seen by Dr. Ashby on June 11, 2009, and appeared to be in distress. (CP 88). His medication and medication levels were changed, but no follow-up was scheduled. (CP 88). DeMeerleer also phoned the Clinic on December 1, 2009, in obvious distress due to loss of employment and separation from Ms. Schiering, and specifically expressed his desire to get back into counseling, and medication management. (CP 88). The Clinic referred him to local community based medical and mental healthcare, but advised him to come to the Clinic for counseling and a medication check if the referrals didn't work out. (CP 88). DeMeerleer returned to the Clinic on April 16, 2010, appeared to be in the middle of frequent mood cycling, and reported he was mending his relationship with Ms. Schiering. (CP 88). He also stated he was having depression related suicidal ideas. (CP 88-89). Apparently, no focused inquiry was made by Dr. Ashby. Instead, Dr. Ashby relied on DeMeerleer's self-report that he wouldn't act on his suicidal ideas. (CP 89). At DeMeerleer's last appointment, on April 16, 2010, he was noted to suffer from an unstable mood, as well as having intrusive ideas about suicide. (CP 89). There is no evidence that DeMeerleer's suicide risk was assessed at this time. There is also no evidence that any follow-up appointment was made for DeMeerleer, in order to adequately monitor his clinical condition. (CP 89). There is also no evidence that Dr. Ashby or the Clinic ever conducted an evaluation of suicide risk during the nine years of treatment with and by Dr. Ashby and the Clinic. (CP 89-90).

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

DeMeerleer was well known to Dr. Ashby and the Clinic to have suicidal and homicidal thoughts, and to have acted on them on several occasions. DeMeerleer was also known to have suicidal and homicidal ideas concerning failed relationships. For eight months or more prior to the Incident, Dr. Ashby and the Clinic knew of DeMeerleer's suicidal ideas related to his loss of employment and separation from Ms. Schiering, and his anger toward one of her nine year old fraternal twin sons, who was autistic. Dr. Ashby and the Clinic breached the applicable standard of care in failing to assess DeMeerleer for risk of suicide and/or homicide over the entire course of his treatment by Dr. Ashby and the Clinic. Dr. Ashby and the Clinic specifically breached the standard of care in the months leading up to and subsequent to DeMeerleer's last clinical visit on April 16, 2010, by failing to: schedule follow-up appointments; failing to assess him for risk of suicide and/or homicide; and failure to monitor his mental state and compliance with medication over time. Collectively, Dr. Ashby and the Clinic's failure to meet the standard of care in psychiatric treatment was a proximate cause of and/or substantial factor in the Incident. Washington law allows for such third-party medical negligence claims. Washington law further allows for claims to be presented based on proximate and substantial factor causation. Finally, Washington law does not prohibit or exempt respondents from appellate claims.

V. ARGUMENT

A. <u>The Expert Medical Testimony, Applied to The Facts and</u> <u>Circumstances of DeMeerleer's Course of Psychiatric Care</u> <u>and Treatment and the Incident Allows for Appellants'</u> <u>Claims</u>.

Appellants have presented competent medical testimony as to the breach of the standard of care in DeMeerleer's psychiatric treatment by Dr. Ashby and the Clinic, and of resulting damages caused thereby. *The declaration provided by appellant's psychiatric expert witness, Dr. Knoll, is the only medical testimony given in this matter. Respondents provided no expert testimony to challenge Dr. Knoll's conclusions that Dr. Ashby and the Clinic breached the applicable standard of care.* The declaration further addresses forseeability of harm to those actually harmed by DeMeerleer, and proximate causation and/or substantial factor in causation attributable to the negligence of Dr. Ashby and the Clinic.

Dr. Knoll testified that timely, appropriate, and focused psychiatric inquiry of DeMeerleer during clinical sessions most likely would likely have resulted in him having incurred more appropriate and intensive clinical or institutional psychiatric treatment and/or detention. (CP 89. This until such time as treatment was demonstrably effective and/or risk of harm to himself had been appropriately mitigated. (CP 89). An adequate suicide risk assessment does not rely solely on the patient's denial of suicidal ideas, but involves an assessment of both the aggravating and mitigating factors in the context of the individual circumstances and patient's clinical status. (CP 89). A psychiatrist simply asking about suicide ideas does not ensure accurate or complete information will be received. (CP 89). It is considered the standard of care for the mental health professional to perform an adequate suicide risk assessment. (CP 89). A systematic assessment of suicide risk is a basic, essential practice that informs the mental health professional about proper treatment and management. (CP 89). It is pertinent that in clinical practice, it is observed that some patients, who first express suicidal ideas in clinical session, are found also to have homicidal ideas during risk assessment for suicide. (CP 89). Also, it is with unfortunate observed frequency that some who are known or believed to be suicidal commit homicide, concurrent with suicide. (CP 89-90).

The Clinic's records indicate that, despite DeMeerleer's worsening condition, he was not monitored and evaluated in a minimally adequate manner over time with follow up appointments. (CP 90). When a patient presents with significant factors for suicide and/or harm to others, and

especially with a history of action on ideas of suicide (prior attempt at suicide, and Russian Roulette) and homicide (prior armed attempt to lay in wait to extract justice on car prowlers) as DeMeerleer did, it is critical to monitor psychiatric status and response to treatment closely. (CP 90). Ongoing monitoring of clinical condition is needed to determine the patient's symptoms, response to treatment, suicide risk, homicide risk and need for hospitalization. (CP 90). The records indicate that DeMeerleer did not receive timely follow-up during his periods of apparent psychological distress. Given DeMeerleer's unstable BPD, life stressors, past suicide attempts, past actions to realize homicide, noncompliance (in taking medication) and "intrusive" suicidal ideas, it was below the standard of care to fail to monitor him in a timely manner. (CP 90). Had Dr. Ashby and the Clinic met the standard of care, it is patent that DeMeerleer would have been in regularly scheduled clinical follow-up over the summer of 2010. (CP 90). During that period, and prior to the incident, an exchange of e-mails between DeMeerleer and Ms. Schiering reveal the relationship had crumbled, and that DeMeerleer was emotionally crushed and mentally desperate and unstable. (CP 90). DeMeerleer's records with the Clinic clearly demonstrate that he routinely raised and addressed issues pertaining to his then current relationship(s) during clinical sessions. (CP 90). This is evident in his early records with the Clinic, first in his and his then-current spouses' attempts to remain together, and then on to his dark, intrusive homicidal thoughts toward her, and her new interest, once she had rejected him. (CP 90). DeMeerleer's next relationship was with Ms. Schiering, who was then substituted as a clinical topic by DeMeerleer. (CP 90). Had DeMeerleer been in clinical session during the summer of 2010, Dr. Ashby would have been able to inquire about his thoughts and emotions about his current relationship with Ms. Schiering and her children, and any ideas of suicide and/or homicide. (CP 90). Recall that DeMeerleer had disclosed suicidal and homicidal ideas during several prior clinical sessions. (CP 91). Had Dr. Ashby and the Clinic properly monitored DeMeerleer, resulting in an adequate risk assessment for suicide and/or homicide, intensive clinical or institutional psychiatric treatment, and/or detention, the risk and occurrence of the Incident would have been mitigated. (CP 91).

B. <u>Third Parties May Recover Damages for Medical Negligence in</u> <u>Washington Under Certain Circumstances</u>.

It is long settled law in Washington that a physician may have liability for the harm caused third parties as a result of the physician's negligence in the care and treatment of his or her patient, when the physician knew or should have known that the negligent treatment of the patient may present a foreseeable risk of harm to a third party. In *Kaiser v. Suburban Transp. Sys.*, the Washington Supreme Court addressed medical negligence in the context of a physician's alleged failure to warn his patient, a public transit bus driver, of the potential side effects of a prescription drug which could affect his driving, and, therefore, endanger passengers.

The plaintiff, Gertrude M. Kaiser, was injured while a passenger on a Suburban Transportation System bus when the bus driver, Richard Wagner, lost consciousness and the bus struck a telephone pole. This lapse of consciousness can be attributed to the side effects of a drug (pyribenzamine) which had been prescribed by his doctor, Jack Faghin, for the treatment of a nasal condition. The driver testified that the doctor gave him no warning concerning possible side effects of the drug, and that he took the first pill on the morning of the accident. A few miles before the accident he felt groggy and drowsy, and then he noticed that his lips and tongue were dry. He blacked out or went to sleep shortly before his bus left the road.

The plaintiff (respondent and cross-appellant), brought this action against the bus company and the driver, and, in the alternative, against the doctor and the doctor's employer, Group Health Cooperative of Puget Sound, defendants (respondents). The bus company and driver answered and cross-complained against the doctor and Group Health, alleging that the sole cause of the accident was the negligence of the doctor. The doctor and Group Health denied negligence and claimed that the driver was hypersensitive to pyribenzamine.

Kaiser v. Suburban Transp. Sys., 65 Wn.2d 461, 462-63,398 P.2d 14 (Wash. 1965) (emphasis added)

In *Kaiser*, the trial court dismissed the physician and his employer,

Group Health Cooperative, from the litigation. The Supreme Court

reversed stating:

1.5

There is evidence in the record that the doctor failed to warn his patient, whom he knew to be a bus driver, of the dangerous side effects of drowsiness or lassitude that may be caused by the taking of this drug. This evidence was sufficient to submit the issue of the doctor's negligence to the jury.

Kaiser, Id. at 65 Wn.2d 461 (emphasis added).

It is implicit in the *Kaiser* decision that third parties who are reasonably foreseeable to be at risk of harm from a physician's patient, where the physician's negligence may be causal, may bring claims for damages against the physician if the risk of harm becomes an actuality. In this, the Supreme Court left no uncertainty:

We are convinced from this record, however, that the plaintiff is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the issue of liability against either the bus company and the driver, or Group Health and the doctor, or both, depending upon certain factual determinations by the jury which we hereinafter specify in our directions for remand.

The judgment of the trial court entered upon the jury verdict is reversed and remanded for a new trial on all issues subject to the following:

The jury should be directed that (a) in the event it finds no warning was given the bus driver as to the side effects of the drug, it shall bring in a verdict against Group Health and the doctor; (b) in the event the jury finds the bus driver failed to exercise the highest degree of care, even though he was given no warning as to the side effects of the drug, the jury shall also bring in a verdict against the bus company and the driver; and (c) in the event the jury finds that a warning of the side effects of the drug was given to the bus driver, then the verdict shall be against the bus company and the driver only.

Kaiser, Id. at 65 Wn.2d 461 (emphasis added).

Eighteen years after the Kaiser decision, the Supreme Court confirmed the broad applicability of the *Kaiser* decision to the medical community, including psychiatrists. In 1983, the Washington Supreme Court stated, with specific reference to the *Kaiser* decision, as follows:

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