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

IV. Argument In Response. 

Appellants have not and cannot demonstrate that the Trial Court 

erred when it granted summary judgment. A motion for summary 

judgment presents a question of law that is reviewed de novo. Denaxas v. 



Sandstone Court of Bellevue, LLC, 148 Wn.2d 654, 662, 63 P.3d 125 

(2003). Even though the evidence presented at the time of the motion is to 

be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party (Osborn v. 

Mason County, 157 Wn.2d 18, 22, 134 P.3d 197 (2006)), when there is no 

genuine issue as to any material fact, summary judgment is proper. Id. In 

this case, Appellants failed to present any admissible, credible evidence of 

any alleged breach of the standard of care for a psychiatrist in Washington 

state under the facts alleged and they cannot create a genuine issue based 

on admissible evidence on the proximate cause element. 

A. The Declaration Of James Knoll Does Not Create A Question 
Of Fact Precluding Dismissal Of Appellants' Claims. 

Appellants argue that "competent medical testimony" (the 

Declaration of James Knoll) establishes that Dr. Ashby violated the 

applicable standard of care by allegedly not performing an "adequate 

suicide risk assessment" and not having "regularly scheduled" follow-up 

appointments over the Summer, 20 10. Appellunls' BrieJ pgs. 14-1 5. Had 

Dr. Ashby seen Mr. DeMeerleer during the summer of 2010, Appellants 

argue Dr. Ashby "would have been able to inquire about his [DeMeerleer] 

thoughts and emotions about his current relationship with Ms. Schiering 

and her children, and any ideas of suicide andlor homicide." Appellants' 



Brief; pg. 16. There are three fatal flaws with Appellants' arguments. Each 

is discussed below. 

1. Dr. Knoll's Testimony Is Not "Competent" Evidence, 
As His Opinions Are Purely Speculative. 

Dr. Knoll's assertions and assumptions essentially conclude that 

but for Dr. Ashby's negligence, Mr. DeMeerleer would have disclosed to 

Dr. Ashby homicidal thoughts about Ms. Schiering and/or her children. 

This, of course, assumes that Mr. DeMeerieer entertained homicidal 

thoughts about Ms. Schiering and/or her children prior to the evening of 

July 18, 2010, and that he would have disclosed those thoughts to 

Dr. Ashby. This type of speculation is inadmissible and insufficient to 

preclude summary judgment. 

In opposition to summary judgment, Appellants submitted no 

evidence showing Mr. DeMeerleer ever had any homicidal thoughts about 

Ms. Schiering and/or her children at any point prior to the evening of 

July 18, 2010. Instead, Appellants point to expressions of suicidal and 

homicidal ideation that Mr. DeMeerleer expressed to Dr. Ashby years 

earlier (and that were not directed toward Ms. Schiering or her children). 

Appellants never deposed Dr. Ashby and did not move under CR 56(f) for 

time to do so. As a result, Appellants asked the Court to extrapolate from 

earlier office records that Mr. DeMeerleer must have been having suicidal 



and homicidal ideations in the summer of 20 10, There is no evidence that 

past, unrelated, fleeting thoughts and emotions (which were not acted 

upon) translated into specific threats of harm against Ms. Schiering or her 

boys before July 18, 2010. In fact, the evidence in the record from those 

persons who spent time with and talked to Mr. DeMeerleer during the 

summer of 20 10 establishes just the opposite. Specific testimony relating 

Mr. DeMeerleerfs conduct and demeanor leading up to July 18, 20 10 - 

from friends, his ex-wife, family and his mother - all demonstrate that 

Mr. DeMeerleer gave no indication to anyone that he was in distress, was 

despondent or depressed, or that he had either thought or intended to do 

any harm to Ms. Schiering or her family, or anyone else for that matter. 

CP 167-170, 152-158, 159-162, 1 7 1 4 4 ,  163-166, 198-201 and 195-197. 

The victims' own family did not foresee Mr. DeMeerleer doing 

harm to the victims. Notwithstanding the same, Dr. Knoll opines that if 

Mr. DeMeerleer treated with Dr. Ashby after April 16, 201 0, then 

Mr. DeMeerleer may have disclosed to Dr. Ashby an intention to commit 

the assaults in question. Contrary to the unfounded supposition of 

Dr. Knoll, there was no evidence of a "worsening condition" (Appellanls' 

Briej p. 14) or "apparent psychological distress leading up to July 18, 

20 10" Id., p. 15. Appellants' argument that Mr. DeMeerleer was "unstable" 



during the summer of 2010 (Id.) is unsupported, argumentative 

speculation. 

CR 56 requires the dismissal of claims if the defendant can 

demonstrate that the plaintiffs are unable to establish a critical element of 

their claim. Celotex v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 3 17, 322, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 2552, 

91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1066, 108 S.Ct. 1028, 

98 L.Ed.2d 992 (1 988). To support their case, the nonmoving party may 

not rely on speculation or argumentative assertions. Pelton v. Tri-State 

Memorial Hosp., 66 Wn. App. 350, 355, 831 P.2d 1147 (1992). When 

reasonable minds can reach but one conclusion on a question of fact, such 

questions may be determined as a matter of law. Rufer v. St. Frances 

Cabrini Hosp., 56 Wn. App. 625, 628, 784 P.2d 1288, review denied, 

114 Wn.2d 1023, 792 P.2d 535 (1990). 

Appellants' reliance upon the speculative and factually 

unsupported declaration by Dr. Icnoll is insufficient to defeat summary 

judgment. In his declaration, Dr. Knoll established that he has excellent 

credentials (CP 83-84) and that he consulted with some unknown person 

in Washington state to form his opinion regarding the Washington 

standard of care. CP 84. Dr. Knoll also stated that he "reviewed" the 

"clinical records of Jan B. DeMeerleer from Spokane Psychiatric Clinic" 

(CP 83), but he neither attached nor referenced specific records to his 



Declaration. Dr. Knoll's conclusions are vague as to time and place in 

what appears to be a purposeful attempt to avoid the reality that the few 

foundational facts recited in his declaration were all of events occurring no 

later than 2005. CP 84-87. From there, Dr. Knoll speculates that 

Mr. DeMeerleer may have been experiencing homicidal ideation during 

the summer of 2010, and that he may have expressed the same to 

Dr. Ashby had Mr. DeMeerleer seen Dr. Ashby that summer. This type of 

speculation is inadmissible and insufficient to defeat summary judgment. 

Dr. Knoll's opinions are not based upon identifiable facts but 

instead are based upon conclusory allegations and pure speculation.' To 

preclude summary judgment, an expert's affidavit must amount to more 

than speculation and conjecture. Guile v. Ballard Community Hospital, 

70 Wn.App. 18, 25, 851 P.2d 689, review denied sub nom, Guile v. 

Crealock, 122 Wn.2d 1010, 863 P.2d 72 (1993). See also Griswold v. 

Kilpatrick, 107 Wn.App. 757, 762, 27 P.3d 246 (2001). The issue that is 

the subject of an expert's affidavit or declaration must be of such a nature 

that an expert can express an opinion based on "a reasonable probability 

rather than mere conjecture of speculation." Davidson v. Municipality of 

Metropolitan Seattle, 43 Wn.App. 569, 71 9 P.2d 569 (1 986). 

' At the time of summary judgment Dr. Ashby filed a separate Motion to 
Strike the declaration of Dr. Knoll; CP 202-204. 

While Dr. Knoll opines that Dr. Ashby should have more thoroughly 



"Presumptions may not be pyramided upon presumptions nor inference 

upon inference. " Davidson, supra, at 575, quoting Prentiss Packing and 

Storage Company v. United Pacific Insurance Company, 5 Wn.2d 144, 

164, 106 P.2d 3 14 (1940). 

Dr. Knoll's speculative and unsupported opinions are simply 

insufficient to defeat summary judgment. 

2. Dr. Knoll's Opinions Fail To Address Causation. 

To prove medical negligence, a plaintiff must establish that a 

health care provider failed to use reasonable care gnJ the failure was a 

proximate cause of the plaintiffs injury. RCW 7.70.040. Proximate cause 

in a medical negligence case requires evidence establishing that "but for" 

the failure to observe the standard of care, the injury would not have 

occurred. Hcrrbeson v. Parke-Davis, Inc., 98 Wn.2d 460, 475-76, 656 P.2d 

483 (1983); and Tyner v. DSHS, 141 Wn.2d 68, 82, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000). 

The evidence establishing cause in fact must "rise above speculation, 

conjecture, or mere possibility." Reese v. Stroh, 128 Wn.2d 300, 309, 

907 P.2d 282 (1995). 

In his declaration, Dr. Knoll opines that Dr. Ashby violated the 

applicable standard of care by allegedly failing to "perform an adequate 

assessment" and failing to "adequately monitor DeMeerleerts psychiatric 

condition." CP 90-91, 71 1. While that testimony might be sufficient to 



establish an issue of fact on the element of "breach," Dr. Knoll's 

conclusions fall far short on the requisite causation element. Recognizing 

that shortcoming, Appellants make the unique, but improper, argument 

that Dr. Ashby's alleged negligence resulted in a "loss of chance" for 

Appellants. That argument is addressed below. 

In his declaration, Dr. Knoll states that had Dr. Ashby performed 

an "adequate assessment" and "adequately monitored" Mr. DeMeerleer, 

Dr. Ashby "may have substantiated that Ms. Schiering and her children 

were foreseeably at risk of harm from DeMeerleer." CP 90, 710. 

(emphasis added). Expert testimony must rise to the level of probability 

and is insufficient if it allows a jury to speculate. OtDonoghue v. Riggs, 

73 Wn.2d 814, 824, 440 P.2d 823, 830 (1968). Dr. Knoll's testimony 

simply does not meet the testimonial requirement necessary to establish 

medical negligence. Id. Instead, Dr. Knoll could only say that if the 

alleged breaches had not occurred, Dr. Ashby may have discovered that 

Mr. DeMeerleer might have been having suicidal/homicidal ideations, and 

with that information may have been able to take measures to prevent the 

assaults. Dr. Knoll's testimony is that had the alleged breaches not 

occurred, the "risk and occurrence of the Incident would have been 

mitigated, and probably would not have occurred." CP 90, 79. Dr. Knoll's 

conclusion requires an incredible leap of faith devoid of admissible, 



factual evidence. Dr. Knoll must assume that there would be a direct, 

unbroken sequence of events between Mr. DeMeerleer's April 16, 201 0 

visit with Dr. Ashby and the July 18, 2010 event, yet neither Appellants 

nor Dr. Knoll have presented any documentation, witness testimony or 

even anecdotal evidence that connect Mr. DeMeerleer's April 16, 20 10 or 

prior sessions with the assaults upon Ms. Schiering and her boys on 

July 18, 201 0. 

Dr. Knoll's declaration was insufficient because he was simply 

unable to testify that "but for" the alleged breaches, the assaults in 

question would not have occurred. The Trial Court agreed and found that 

summary judgment of dismissal was proper. 

3. Evidence Of Suicidal Or Homicidal Ideation Is 
Insufficient To Defeat Summary Judgment. 

Appellants argue that had Dr. Ashby not allegedly violated the 

applicable standard of care, Dr.Ashby may have discovered 

Mr. DeMeerleer was experiencing "ideas of suicide andlor homicide" in 

the months preceding July 18, 2010. Appellants' BrieA pg. 16. Even if 

Appellants could have shown Mr. DeMeerleer was having "ideas of 

suicide andlor homicide" over the summer of 2010, those unexpressed 

thoughts are insufficient for Appellants to survive summary judgment. 

Rather, in order to impose liability on a mental health care provider based 



upon the intentional, criminal acts of a patient, a plaintiff must show that 

the patient communicated to the provider an actual threat of harm against a 

reasonably identifiable victim. Dr. Knoll did not and obviously cannot 

opine that absent the alleged standard of care violations, Mr. DeMeerleer 

would have communicated to Dr. Ashby an actual threat of harm toward 

Ms. Schiering and/or her children. 

It is not sufficient for Appellants to establish that absent the 

alleged breaches of the standard of care, "the rislc and occurrence of the 

Incident would have been mitigated." Appellants' Brief, pg. 16. Instead, 

under applicable Washington law, liability can be imposed on Dr. Ashby 

and the Cliiiic only if Dr. Ashby failed to wardprotect Ms. Schiering and 

her children after receipt of an actual threat harm against them. The 

absence of such evidence made summary judgment proper. 

B. Mental Health Providers Have No Duty To Protect Third 
Persons Absent An Actual Threat Of Harm Against A 
Reasonably identifiable Victim. 

The victims of Mr. DeMeerleer's crimes were not patients of